THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon

Case No. 11-CP-29-00873

Appellate Case No. 2014-001505

RECEIVED
MAY 12 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,
Successor, by merger to Wachovia Bank, N.A., Respondent,

v.

Ronald P. Pappas, a/k/a Ronald Peter Pappas, and
Camine Pappas, Appellants,

And

Ronald P. Pappas, a/k/a Ronald Peter Pappas, and
Camine Pappas, Cross-Plaintiffs,

v.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,
Successor by merger to Wachovia Bank, N.A., and
Cargo Development, LLC,
A North Carolina limited liability Company, Cross-Defendants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

John Martin Foster

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Plaintiff WELLS FARGO BANK moved successfully for summary judgment on the Defendants PAPPAS' Counterclaims for unfair and deceptive trade practices, fraud and negligent misrepresentation. In response to the Plaintiff's summary judgment Motion, the Defendants submitted their Affidavit setting out their attempts to complete discovery as to specific items. The Defendants maintain that their attempts to obtain those items were diligent and bore no indication of delay or an attempt at a generalized "fishing expedition." They maintain that the existence or non-existence of those items were vital to their defense of the summary judgment Motion, and to their prosecution of the case. They argue that, in the absence of such discovery, summary judgment was improperly considered and granted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May, 2006, the Appellants RONALD P. PAPPAS and CAMINE PAPPAS purchased, as an investment, a residential lot in what was to be Edgewater, a new subdivision in Lancaster County, developed by Craft Development, LLC. The price was \$229,000.00. This subdivision did not perform as expected.

This lot was financed by the predecessor in interest to the Respondent WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. with a note having a balloon payment in June, 2009. At closing, they were charged with the cost for an appraisal of the lot. They requested a copy of that appraisal. It was not supplied until this action was filed. No reason for that failure has been stated.

By January, 2008, complaints had been made to HUD alleging failures to comply with the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act by Craft Development:

In July, 2009, at the urging of the bank and upon expiration of the original Note, the Appellants refinanced with the Bank at a figure of \$210,954.69. At the second closing, they were again charged with the cost for an appraisal of the lot. They again requested a copy of that appraisal. This request was repeated during the Deposition of the Appellant RONALD P. PAPPAS. To date, they have not been supplied with that appraisal. This foreclosure action is premised upon the documents of the second closing.

In December, 2013, the Respondent Bank filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. In response, the Appellants filed their Affidavit in Response to that Motion.

By their Affidavit and argument at hearing, counsel for Appellants set out their theory that the undisclosed appraisal must either show a true and lesser figure, which did not support the

2009 refinance, or the former, original figure, which misled the Appellants and caused them to forego their right to timely plead causes of action under the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act and otherwise.

The Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment was granted by Order entered April 11, 2014, written notice of which was received on May 16, 2014. The Appellants' Motion under Rule 59(a) and (e), S.C.R.C.P. was denied by Order filed June 12, 2014, written notice of which was received on June 13, 2014. This appeal followed.

ARGUMENTS

I. HAVE THE APPELLANTS ADEQUATELY DEMONSTRATED THEIR NEED FOR FURTHER, SPECIFIC DISCOVERY UNDER RULE 56(e), S.C.R.C.P.?

In their responsive pleading, the Appellants PAPPAS specifically addressed the appraisals required by the Plaintiff Bank and its predecessor, and the failure to supply the same after their request:

19. In the course of the transaction Plaintiff has committed or engaged in the following unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Title 39, Chapter 5:

- a) knowingly misrepresenting the value of the subject real estate in the appraisal furnished to the Defendants;
- b) negligently appraising the value of the subject real property when the Defendants' reliance thereon and resulting injury (which are alleged hereby) was reasonably foreseeable;
- c) using methods of appraisal that included, but did not disclose the existence of an "extraordinary" or "hypothetical condition" in that the amenities of the subdivision were not funded and the lots unsold, in that the owner and developer had failed to provide proof that it or they had failed to comply with HUD regulatory requirements, and in the use of comparables to state what was an undisclosed prospective value;
- d) failing to supply the Defendants with a copy of the Real Estate Appraisal; and
- e) failing to supply the Defendants with a copy of the Real Estate Appraisal after their request therefor.

[*Id.*, Para. 19 of Amended Answer, Counterclaims and Crossclaim, RECORD ON APPEAL, p.34-35.]

In their Affidavit in Response to the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment [RECORD ON APPEAL, p.266-269], reference was made to the explicit request for the second appraisal, of 2009, in the Deposition of RONALD E. PAPPAS taken in October, 2013. Mr. PAPPAS reiterates the failure to turn over the second Appraisal at [SUPPLEMENTAL RECORD ON APPEAL, p.157, 1.16 - p. 158, 1.5, and at p.167, 1.24 - p.168, 1.4., RECORD p.40 and 42.] The request for the second Appraisal was restated by Mr. PAPPAS and by his counsel:

24 [Q. Mr. LANEY] Are you aware from the appraisal done in 2009

25 according to HUD, which I believe you established is

1 page 78 of Plaintiffs 13, was that also the same

2 appraiser, the Pigmans, if you know?

3 A.[Mr. PAPPAS] I don't know anything about the second appraisal

4 except that I paid for it.

5 Q. Okay.

6 MR. FOSTER: And I assume that Counsel can

7 supply that to us?

8 MR. LANEY: An appraisal? The 2009?

9 MR. FOSTER: Yes.

10 MR. LANEY: I'll inquire, and if we have it

11 we'll certainly --

12 MR. FOSTER: Okay. I have nothing further.

[SUPPLEMENTAL RECORD ON APPEAL, Deposition of RONALD E. PAPPAS, p.167, 1.24 - p.168, 1.12, RECORD, p.42.]

The Appellants reiterate that no reason for the failure to produce this document has ever been stated, in any pleading or at the hearing resulting in the Order appealed from. [SUPPLEMENTAL RECORD ON APPEAL, Deposition of RONALD E. PAPPAS, p.167, 1.24 - p.168, 1.12, RECORD p.42 and generally.]

Rule 56, S.C.R.C.P, governing summary judgment and the motions to that end, is derived

from the former Federal Rule 56. Rule 56(f), S.C.R.C.P. provides:

(f) When Affidavits Are Unavailable. Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just.

To quote MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE:

Rule 56 does not require that any discovery take place before a motion for summary judgment can be granted. However, if a party cannot adequately defend a summary judgment motion, Rule 56 (f) provides a means to obtain time for further discovery. If the court finds that a party opposing a summary judgment motion cannot present facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the court may: (1) deny the motion for summary judgment; (2) order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or discovery to be had; or (3) make any other order that is just.

[J. Moore *et al.*, MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE, 56.10[8](a) (3d ed. 1999); footnotes omitted.]

By the Affidavit of Counsel, served on counsel for Respondent by e-mail five days before hearing, the Appellants address the non-disclosure of the second, 2009 appraisal. [RECORD ON APPEAL, p.266-269.] By the same Affidavit, and in argument on the Respondent's summary judgment Motion, the Appellants plead their need for the document, and for its examination by their expert.[RECORD ON APPEAL, p.266-269.]

It has usually been held that Rule 56(f) should be liberally construed. *Gonzalez v. K-Mart Corp.*, 940 F.Supp. 429, 431 (D.P.R. 1996); *Elliott Assoc., L.P. v. Republic of Peru*, 961 F.Supp. 83, 86 (S.D.N.Y. 1997). In that regard, it is certainly true that a party seeking a Rule 56(f) continuance is generally required to demonstrate due diligence in discovery. *Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard*, 400 S.C. 246, 734 S.E.2d 161 (2012); *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*; *Ayala-Gerena v. Bristol Myers-Squibb Co.*, 95 F.3d 86, 92 (1st Cir. 1996); *Cannizzaro v. Neiman Marcus, Inc.*, 979 F. Supp. 465, 471-472 (N.D. Tex. 1997); *Theotokatos v. Sara Lee Personal Prods.*, 971 F. Supp. 332, 343 (N.D.Ill. 1997); *Nidds v. Schindler Elevator Corp.*, 113 F.3d 912,921 (9th Cir. 1997) *cert. denied*, -- U.S. --, 139 L. Ed. 2D 287 (1997).

In this matter, the specific document requested was made prior to this action, was plead, had its absence stated by the Appellant RONALD PAPPAS in deposition, was specifically addressed in that deposition by his counsel, and its discovery was undertaken by Plaintiff's counsel. [SUPPLEMENTAL RECORD ON APPEAL, Deposition of RONALD E. PAPPAS, p.167, l.24 – p.168,l.12, RECORD p.42.] It was referenced in their Affidavit in Response to the Plaintiff's Summary Judgment Motion, and at the hearing thereon. [RECORD ON APPEAL, p.266, Para. 7.0 and Transcript of Hearing, p.575,l.23 – p.576,l.22.] The Appellants submit there can be no reasonable question as to diligent attempts to obtain this document.

To again quote MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE:

A court may reject a request for time to conduct further discovery, even if properly and timely made, if it deems the request to be based on speculation as to what potentially could be discovered.

[J. Moore *et al.*, MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE, 56.10[8](a) (3d ed. 1999); footnotes omitted.]

In other words, the defending party cannot expect the Court to allow a mere “fishing expedition”, but must seek specific, discoverable matter by its Affidavit. *Ortiz Cameron v. D.E.A.*, 959 F.Supp. 92,93-94 (D.P.R. 1997); *Mason Tenders Dist. Council Pension Fund v. Messera*, 958 F.Supp. 869, 894 (S.D.N.Y. 1997); *City of Rome v. Glanton*, 958 F.Supp. 1026, 1039 (E.D.Pa.), *aff'd without op.*, 133 F.3d 909 (3d Cir. 1997); *Theotokatos v. Sara Lee Personal Prods.*, *supra*; *Wesley v. Don Stein Buick, Inc.*, 996 F.Supp. 1299, 1309 (D.Kan. 1998).

The requested discovery here is specific, as shown by all references thereto: the Amended Answer, Counterclaim and Crossclaim; the request made at the Appellant RONALD PAPPAS' deposition; the Affidavit in Response to the Respondent's Summary Judgment Motion; the colloquy at the hearing on the Motion. The Appellants have fulfilled all requirements of Rule 56(e) and (f), including that of specificity.

II. THE APPELLANTS HAVE ADEQUATELY ALLEGED COUNTERCLAIMS, AND THE MISSING DISCOVERY IS MATERIAL TO THEIR PROOF.

In the case at hand, the Respondents PAPPAS have specifically alleged Unfair Trade Practices under the South Carolina Act in their Counterclaim:

19. In the course of the transaction Plaintiff has committed or engaged in the following unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Title 39, Chapter 5:

- f) knowingly misrepresenting the value of the subject real estate in the appraisal furnished to the Defendants;
- g) negligently appraising the value of the subject real property when the Defendants' reliance thereon and resulting injury (which are alleged hereby) was reasonably foreseeable;
- h) using methods of appraisal that included, but did not disclose the existence of an "extraordinary" or "hypothetical condition" in that the amenities of the subdivision were not funded and the lots unsold, in that the owner and developer had failed to provide proof that it or they had failed to comply with HUD regulatory requirements, and in the use of comparables to state what was an undisclosed prospective value;
- i) failing to supply the Defendants with a copy of the Real Estate Appraisal; and
- j) failing to supply the Defendants with a copy of the Real Estate Appraisal after their request therefor.

[*Id.*, RECORD ON APPEAL, Para. 19 of Amended Answer, Counterclaims and Crossclaim, p.4-5.]

By its Order, the Circuit Court finds a failure to plead a violation of the UDAP Act which impacts the public interest, as defined under South Carolina precedent. [Order of April 11, 2014, RECORD ON APPEAL, p.5-6.] In *Daisy Outdoor Advertising Co. v. Abbott*, 322 S.C. 489, 473 S.E.2d 47 (1996), our Supreme Court discussed the question of proof for the impact on the public of an alleged UDAP violation:

Plaintiffs in prior cases generally have shown potential for repetition in two ways: by showing the same kind of actions occurred in the past, thus making it likely they will continue to occur absent deterrence (*e.g.*, *Jones Chevrolet*), or (2) by showing the company's procedures create a potential for repetition of the unfair and deceptive acts (*e.g.*, *Haley Nursery, Dowd*). Sometimes, the potential for repetition or other adverse impact on the public interest will be apparent. Conversely, it will sometimes be apparent that an action has no real potential for repetition. For example, unfair or deceptive acts in

the sale of a business itself, or in sales outside the ordinary course of business, are not readily susceptible to repetition and, therefore, have no impact on the public interest.

...

Generally, plaintiffs will prove potential for repetition by the two means described above. We decline to hold, however, that those are the only means for showing potential for repetition/public impact. Rather, each case must be evaluated on its own merits. We expressly reject any rigid, bright line test that delineates in minute detail exactly what a plaintiff must show to satisfy the potential for repetition/public impact prong of the UTPA test.

[Id., 322 S.C. at 498-97, 473 S.E.2d at 51.]

The Appellants maintain that the actions and inaction of the Respondent with regard to the appraisals and its failure to produce the same are "apparent" in their public impact, in the sense used in *Daisy Outdoor Advertising, supra*. If, however, that position is rejected, it is clear from the above-cited language that this is an issue which the Respondents both can, and are required to, argue and prove within the scope of further discovery and trial. The requirement of public interest will not serve to allow a conclusion that their Counterclaim is without merit. The proof of that Counterclaim relies directly upon the requested, and refused, discovery.

The Respondent's position at argument below was that no cause of action could result from disclosure of the second, 2009 Appraisal. The Appellants cite in response the language of 51 AM.JUR.2D *Limitation of Actions* § 387 (2002):

It has been held that, to avoid a statute of limitations defense on the grounds of estoppel, the defendant's representation or act must have been calculated to mislead or deceive and to induce inaction by the injured party, or done with the intention that the conduct be acted upon by the plaintiff. However, it has also been held that a defendant is estopped from asserting the statute of limitations if the plaintiff's failure to act within the statutory period results from a reasonable reliance on the defendant's conduct or representations, even if there was no intent to mislead, deceive, or delay the plaintiff. [Ftn.3: *Dever v. Simmons*, 292 Ill.App.3d 70, 226 Ill.Dec. 1, 684 N.E.2d 997 (1st Dist. 1997).]

Under either view, the defendant must have had actual or constructive knowledge of the true facts, and the defendant's conduct or deception must include positive efforts or active steps, above and beyond the wrongdoing upon which the plaintiff's claim is

founded, to prevent the claimant from suing in time.

Actual fraud in the technical sense, bad faith, or an intent to mislead or deceive is not essential to create such an estoppel. [Ftn.8: *Wilson v. Butt*, 168 Va. 259, 190 S.E. 260, 109 A.L.R. 1434 (1937).]

[*Id.*; footnotes omitted, other than those cited.]

Our Courts are in agreement with the stated principle. In *Kleckley v. Northwestern Nat. Cas. Co.*, 338 S.C. 131, 526 S.E.2d 218 (2000), the Supreme Court stated:

Kleckley could have also argued that Northwestern should be estopped from asserting the statute of limitations defense. "Under South Carolina law, a defendant may be estopped from claiming the statute of limitations as a defense if the delay that otherwise would give operation to the statute had been induced by the defendant's conduct." *Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 488 S.E.2d 327 (1997) (citations omitted); see also *Holy Loch Distribs., Inc. v. Hitchcock*, 332 S.C. 247, 503 S.E.2d 787 (Ct.App.1998). [*Id.*, 338 S.C. at 136, 526 S.E.2d at 220.]

In the case at hand, the Respondent Bank had a duty to disclose the 2009 Appraisal required by it and requested by the Appellant. Had the same been disclosed the Appellants would have been on notice of their rights to pursue a claim based on either an improper Appraisal or one based upon the Respondent Bank's failure to disclose a lessened value for the collateral land. There is a third possibility: that no such Appraisal exists, and the Appellants were charged for a document that does not exist.

Based upon the information available at the hearing, the Appellants did not contest the Respondent Bank's Summary Judgment as to their cause of action based upon the Real Estate Settlement and Procedures Act ("RESPA"), 12 U.S.C. § 2601 *et seq.* or the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1701 *et seq.* [RECORD ON APPEAL, Transcript or Hearing, p.26,1.7-10.] The Appellants acknowledge that under the existing precedent, the doctrine of equitable estoppel will not affect the statutory limitation on RESPA claims. *Moll v U.S. Life Title Ins. Co. of New York*, 654 F.Supp. 1012 (S.D.N.Y., 1987).

The unavailability of a RESPA claim does not, however, defeat the viability of the Appellants' claims under UDAP [RECORD ON APPEAL, Second Defense and Counterclaim, p.33-35.], fraud [RECORD ON APPEAL, Fifth Defense and Counterclaim, p.38-39.] or that for negligent misrepresentation [RECORD ON APPEAL, Sixth Defense and Counterclaim, p.39-41.]. Those

causes were, the Appellants maintain, adequately plead and shall be adequately evidenced by the discovery they seek. The existence, or non-existence, of the 2009 Appraisal is sufficient bases (under any of the factual alternatives discussed herein) to support each of the three Counterclaims and, thus, to avoid summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

The Appellants PAPPAS have demonstrated their need for further discovery in order to respond adequately to the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. Their pursuit of this information has been diligent and has been directed to specific items referenced in their pleadings. Their need for those items has been clearly set out in the manner specified by Rule 56(e) and (f), S.C.R.C.P.

Given the pleadings herein, the existence or non-existence of the items sought by discovery is a fact adequate to show the factual existence of their Counterclaims for unfair and deceptive practices, for fraud and for negligent misrepresentation.