THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon  
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001505  
Circuit Court Case No. 2011-CP-29-00873

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., successor by merger to Wachovia Bank,  
N.A., ..... Respondent,

v.

Ronald P. Pappas, a/k/a Ronald Peter Pappas, and Camine Pappas,.... Appellants,

And

Ronald P. Pappas, a/k/a Ronald Peter Pappas, and Camine Pappas,.... Cross-  
Plaintiffs,

v.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and Craft Development, LLC, A North Cross-  
Carolina Limited Liability Company, ..... Defendants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

### **ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES**

At the outset, it is important to note that the Pappases have not challenged several aspects of the circuit court’s ruling in their opening brief. First, they do not dispute that the circuit court rightly entered judgment in Wells Fargo’s favor on its foreclosure claim. Likewise, they do not dispute that the circuit court rightly entered judgment in Wells Fargo’s favor on their two federal claims. Accordingly, they have abandoned any objection to these rulings. *See Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993) (“Failure to argue is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal.”).

Nor have they presented any legitimate arguments for reversing the circuit court's rulings that they have challenged. Instead, the Pappases seek to resuscitate legally invalid claims by arguing that Wells Fargo should be forced to participate in even more discovery that, at bottom, is irrelevant to their remaining claims. For the reasons discussed below, the circuit court's ruling should be affirmed.

**I. The Pappases' remaining claims are defective as a matter of law.**

According to the Pappases' opening brief, the entirety of their appeal depends on the contents of an appraisal of their property from 2009—three years after they purchased the undeveloped lot, and three years after their first loan on the property—that has not been produced in discovery. (*See, e.g.*, Br. of Appellants at 8–9 (arguing that the contents of an appraisal from 2009 might constitute “sufficient bases” to support their claims).)

Nowhere, though, do they ever explain what relevance that appraisal could have to their claims under the Unfair Trade Practices Act, for fraud, and for negligent misrepresentation. Their silence on this point is not surprising, as the contents of an appraisal that the Pappases concede they have never seen cannot salvage their claims, which are defective as a matter of law.

**A. A private dispute between two contracting parties is insufficient to support a claim under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act.**

To maintain a claim under the Unfair Trade Practices Act, a party must show that another has engaged in “unfair or deceptive acts or practices” in connection with a commercial transaction. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-20(a). A claimant must also show that the unfair business practice adversely affects the public interest, and that it suffered damages as a result of the unfair conduct. *Health Promotion Specialists, LLC v. S.C. Bd. of Dentistry*, 403 S.C. 623, 638, 743 S.E.2d 808, 816 (2013).

South Carolina's courts are clear that this statute is designed to redress harms that impact the public generally, and challenged conduct that affects only the parties to a private transaction is insufficient to support a claim. *See, e.g., Woodson v. DLI Props., LLC*, 406 S.C. 517, 530, 753 S.E.2d 428, 435 (2014) (“[T]he SCUTPA is not available to redress a private wrong because an unfair or deceptive act that affects only the parties to the transaction is beyond the scope of the SCUTPA.”); *Jefferies v. Phillips*, 316 S.C. 523, 527, 451 S.E.2d 21, 23 (Ct. App. 1994) (“[C]onduct which only affects the parties to the transaction provides no basis for a UTPA claim.”).

In order to satisfy the public-impact element, a claimant may attempt to show that the challenged conduct has the potential for repetition, which can be proven two ways: by demonstrating that the same behavior has occurred in the past, or by proving that the “company’s procedures create a potential for repetition of the unfair and deceptive acts.” *Crory v. Djebelli*, 329 S.C. 385, 388, 496 S.E.2d 21, 23 (1998).

Because of the gravity of such a claim, a party must come forward with “specific facts” in support of the public-impact element. *See, e.g., O’Callaghan Cable Servs. v. Coastal Constr., Inc.*, Case No. 2:11-cv-375-DCN, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 146124, at \*5 (D.S.C. Oct. 11, 2012) (“A plaintiff must prove ‘specific facts’ of an adverse impact or likely adverse impact on the public.”); *Bessinger v. Food Lion, Inc.*, 305 F. Supp. 2d 574, 584 (D.S.C. 2003) (“To sustain a cause of action under the SCUTPA, the plaintiffs must establish, by specific facts, that members of the public were adversely affected by the defendants’ retaliation against Mr. Bessinger’s speech.”), *aff’d*, 115 F. App’x 636 (4th Cir. 2004); *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 527, 451 S.E.2d at 23 (“This adverse effect on the public must be proved by specific facts.”).

Here, the circuit court held that summary judgment was proper in Wells Fargo's favor on the Pappases' Unfair Trade Practices Act claim because it amounts to "nothing more than a dispute between the two parties to a private contract—the Refinance Note and Mortgage—regarding appraisals of the Property." (Order at 6; R. p. \_\_\_\_.) This ruling is unassailable, as the Pappases never presented any evidence to suggest that their claim was based on anything other than a perceived private dispute.

On appeal, the Pappases argue that they need a copy of an appraisal done in 2009 to support the public-impact element of their claim. But they never explain how that appraisal could possibly change the circuit court's analysis. While they superficially state that the appraisal's relevance is "apparent," this is not so. (Br. of Appellant at 7.)

As discussed above, that appraisal was done as part of a refinancing, not as part of Mr. Pappas's actual purchase of the lot. There is no evidence to suggest that this appraisal influenced any action by the Pappases. Indeed, they already owned the property and owed the debt, so they cannot legitimately claim that this appraisal induced them to make any commitments to which they were not already obligated.

There is also no evidence to suggest that the Pappases ever provided a written request for the appraisal or that they were even entitled to review it. To the contrary, they did not have any legal entitlement to receive it. *See* 12 C.F.R. § 202.14(a) (obligating creditors to provide a copy of an appraisal only "upon an applicant's written request" and if the loan is secured by a "lien on a dwelling," which is limited to properties that actually contain a "residential structure," not undeveloped lots like the one at issue in this case).<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> In their opening brief, the Pappases state, without citing any authority, that Wells Fargo "had a duty to disclose the 2009 Appraisal." (Br. of Appellant at 8.) As the federal regulation cited above in the text makes clear, though, this position is legally incorrect.

Nor is there even a logical connection between the appraisal and the Pappases' claim. In *Robertson v. First Union National Bank*, 350 S.C. 339, 350–51, 565 S.E.2d 309, 315 (Ct. App. 2002), this Court explained that appraisals are done for the benefit of the lender, not the borrower, to ensure that a loan is sufficiently secured by the collateral. The Court also noted that the lender, not the borrower, would be harmed by loaning money based on insufficient collateral. *Id.* at 351 n.2, 565 S.E.2d at 315 n.2. As then-Chief Judge Hearn concluded for a unanimous panel:

[W]e can think of no logical reason why Bank would make it a practice to intentionally make loans for an amount in excess of the collateral's value and risk substantial losses in the event of default. Therefore, summary judgment on this issue [*i.e.* whether a borrower could base an Unfair Trade Practices Act claim on the contents of an appraisal performed in connection with a mortgage loan] was proper.

*Id.* at 351, 565 S.E.2d at 315.

At bottom, the Pappases have not set forth any evidence that Wells Fargo has done anything “unfair” or “deceptive.” They have never explained how an appraisal done during the refinancing process could in any way support the public-impact element of a claim under the Unfair Trade Practices Act, nor have they provided evidence of any other “specific facts” in support of this element. And they have never identified any damages that are attributable to Wachovia Bank’s agreement to refinance their loan in 2009.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> The circuit court based its ruling on the absence of any evidence supporting the public-impact element, but the record is also void of any evidence regarding the “unfair conduct” element or the damages element. Simply put, there is nothing in the record to support either of these elements; the Pappases never identified any such evidence during the proceedings below, nor have they identified any in their appellate brief. Accordingly, the judgment can be affirmed on these additional sustaining grounds. *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”); *Fields v. Yarborough Ford, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 207, 210–12, 414 S.E.2d 164, 166–67 (1992) (holding that judgment should

Accordingly, the Court should affirm the circuit court's grant of summary judgment on the Pappases' Unfair Trade Practices Act claim.

**B. The Pappases' claims for fraud and negligent misrepresentation fail as a matter of law because they did not rely on any appraisals at the time they contracted with Wells Fargo, and because they could have conducted their own appraisals of the property but chose not to.**

The Pappases' claims for fraud and negligent misrepresentation are likewise defective as a matter of law, as the circuit court correctly held. Each of these causes of action requires a claimant to have justifiably relied on the representation of another. *See, e.g., Schnellmann v. Roettger*, 368 S.C. 17, 21–23, 627 S.E.2d 742, 744–45 (Ct. App. 2006) (affirming summary judgment on claims for both fraud and negligent misrepresentation because the buyers' reliance on the seller's representations was "unreasonable as a matter of law"), *aff'd in relevant part*, 373 S.C. 379, 645 S.E.2d 239 (2007). Similarly, a party is not liable under these causes of action if the alleged misrepresentations concern "matters which plaintiff could ascertain on his own in the exercise of due diligence." *Id.* at 21, 627 S.E.2d at 745 (quoting *Robertson*, 350 S.C. at 348, 565 S.E.2d at 314). These twin principles support the circuit court's ruling here.

The undisputed facts are that Mr. Pappas entered into an agreement with Craft Development to purchase the property before he approached Wachovia Bank about financing. (Dep. Pappas 25:1–:7; R. p. \_\_\_\_.) The Pappases also entered into a note and mortgage with Wachovia Bank in 2006 before seeing any appraisal on the property. (*Id.* 34:4–:9; R. p. \_\_\_\_.) In fact, they did not see the appraisal supporting the 2006 loan

---

have been entered in the defendant's favor because the plaintiffs "failed to prove that they suffered any actual damages as a result of the violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act"); *Bessinger v. BI-LO, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 426, 432, 622 S.E.2d 564, 567–68 (Ct. App. 2005) (affirming dismissal because "the allegations in the complaint do not suggest Defendants committed acts that would be unfair under the SCUTPA").

agreement until 2013, seven years after they took out their initial loan with Wachovia Bank. (*Id.*) Nor have they seen any appraisal associated with their refinancing in 2009. (*Id.* 157:22–:23; R. p. \_\_\_\_.)

Just as with the Pappases' Unfair Trade Practices claim, *Robertson* is indistinguishable from these facts and dispositive of these claims. There, borrowers sued their lender for fraud and negligent misrepresentation on the belief that a lender used fraudulent tactics in appraising property that secured the parties' loan. That loan closed in 1993, but, “[s]ignificantly, Appellants did not receive a copy of the 1993 appraisal until 1998.” 350 S.C. at 348, 565 S.E.2d at 314. The *Robertson* Court readily affirmed judgment in the lender's favor on the fraud claim because “Appellants could not have relied upon the appraisal in purchasing the property.” *Id.* It was similarly decisive with respect to the borrowers' claim for negligent misrepresentation: “Appellants' negligent misrepresentation claim fails because they have failed to prove reliance on the 1993 appraisal. It is undisputed that the parties agreed to a contract price without seeing an appraisal.” *Id.* at 350, 565 S.E.2d at 315.

The same facts in this case should render an identical result. There is no evidence to suggest that Wachovia Bank made any representations about the value of the property before, during, or even after Mr. Pappas decided to purchase it. Nor is there any evidence to suggest that Wachovia Bank made any representations about the value of the property when the Pappases decided to refinance their loan, or that the bank ever performed any appraisals. Indeed, there is no evidence to suggest that the dealings between the Pappases and Wachovia Bank were anything other than two routine loan transactions: the Pappases needed money to purchase and then retain property, and Wachovia Bank twice agreed to

lend them that money after verifying for itself that the property would be sufficient collateral to secure the loans.

Over the course of those transactions, the Pappases concede that Wachovia Bank did not prevent them from procuring their own appraisal of the property. (Ans. to Pl.'s Requests for Admissions at Admission 13; R. p. \_\_\_\_.) They also concede they were aware of the actual physical condition of the property and the development it lay within when they executed the sales agreement, and when they later executed loan documents with Wachovia Bank. (Dep. Pappas 51:11–:21, 52:13–53:21; R. pp. \_\_\_\_–\_\_\_\_.) They simply chose not to order an appraisal despite the fact that Mr. Pappas is in “the real estate development business.” (*Id.* 14:2; R. p. \_\_\_\_.)

When buyers have neglected to undertake simple measures to educate themselves about property they are looking to purchase, South Carolina’s courts have uniformly held that others are not liable for any alleged misinformation. *See, e.g., Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 241, 692 S.E.2d 499, 509 (2010) (granting judgment against a purchaser on a claim for negligent misrepresentation arising out of a zoning discrepancy because “Quail Hill could have reviewed the Official Zoning Map to ascertain the correct zoning classification”); *Alpha Contracting Servs., Inc. v. Household Fin. Corp. II*, Op. No. 2011-UP-289, 2011 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 348, at \*8 (Ct. App. June 13, 2011) (“Like the purchasers in *Schnellmann*, Alpha failed to take its own measurements of the home’s square footage. Therefore, Alpha’s reliance on the square footage indicated in the MLS listing was unreasonable as a matter of law. Alpha cannot obtain compensation from Respondents if it has not exercised its own due diligence.”); *Schnellmann*, 368 S.C. at 21, 627 S.E.2d at 745 (“The Schnellmanns viewed the house,

and proceeded with the purchase without finally determining the exact square footage. In light of the evidence presented, we agree with the trial court's conclusion that if the Schnellmanns relied on the approximation of the square footage contained in the listing, such reliance was unreasonable as a matter of law."); *Robertson*, 350 S.C. at 348, 565 S.E.2d at 314 (affirming summary judgment against buyers' fraud claim because "the price for the property was not negotiated and Appellants made no effort to independently ascertain its value before purchase"). The Pappases have not identified a single reason for the Court to stray from this unbroken line of authority.

Because the Pappases concede that they agreed to purchase the property from Craft Development and entered into loan transactions with Wachovia Bank without reviewing appraisals of the property or procuring their own appraisals, their claims for fraud and negligent misrepresentation fail as a matter of law. Clearly, they could not justifiably rely on an appraisal that they have never seen. Accordingly, the circuit court properly granted summary judgment in Wells Fargo's favor on these claims, and that ruling should be affirmed.

## **II. The Pappases' request for additional discovery cannot cure the legal deficiencies in their claims.**

As discussed above, the thrust of the Pappases' appeal is a request for additional discovery with respect to the appraisal supporting Wachovia Bank's agreement to refinance the Pappases' loan in 2009. (*See, e.g.*, Br. of Appellants at 9 ("The Appellants Pappas have demonstrated their need for further discovery in order to respond adequately to the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.")) They devote almost half of their appellate argument to Rule 56(f)'s standards regarding when more discovery may be appropriate. (*Id.* at 2–5.) But, also as discussed above, they never explain how this

additional discovery can save their claims beyond an empty statement that the relevance of their requested additional discovery is “apparent.” (*Id.* at 7.)

The omission of how the 2009 appraisal can somehow resuscitate their claims voids the Pappases’ requested relief on appeal. Rule 56(f), SCRPC, is designed to prevent summary judgment from being entered prematurely and before the parties have an opportunity to fully conduct discovery. It is not, however, a cure-all when a nonmovant’s claims are defective as a matter of law.

Accordingly, summary judgment can be forestalled only when the additional requested discovery bears on dispositive issues. *See, e.g., Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003) (“[T]he nonmoving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional ***relevant*** evidence and that the party is ‘not merely engaged in a “fishing expedition.”’” (quoting *Baughman v. AT&T Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 544 (1991))) (emphasis added); *Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 48, 54–55, 677 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2009) (affirming summary judgment despite the appellant’s claim for more discovery because “on appeal, Guinan fails to demonstrate further discovery would uncover additional ***relevant*** evidence or create a genuine issue of material fact”) (emphasis added); *see also Wieters v. Roper Hosp., Inc.*, 58 F. App’x 40, 44 (4th Cir. 2003) (affirming summary judgment despite the submission of a Rule 56(f) affidavit because the nonmovant had failed to explain how the additional requested discovery “will be useful in resisting summary judgment”).

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